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 Witness details  

 

1. My name is Martin Graves. My year of birth is 1963. My contact details are 

known to the Inquiry.  

 

Experience 
 

2. I joined the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) on 22 February 1982 and held 

 the rank of sergeant from January 1997 until my retirement in September 

 2012. I maintained an operational role until my retirement, including being 

 deployed at the Olympics and Notting Hill carnival in August 2012. The full 

 details of my experience are set out in my CV.  However, I served in a 

 number of operational roles in both uniform and plain clothes. This included 

 work as a surveillance officer on a number of operations. I have been 

 public order trained since 1984 and been involved in policing numerous public 

 order and major disturbances across London and the UK. From 1988 to 1994 
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number of other forces including South Wales, various Scottish forces, Dorset, 

Bedfordshire, Merseyside, GMP and Cambridgeshire.  

 

6. I’m asked whether I’ve ever trained as an initial tactical firearms commander 

(ITFC) or provided training to Inspectors in their role as ITFCs.  No, I haven’t.  

However, I was a trained firearms officer and I have delivered training on a 

regular basis to firearms trained officers, both protection officers and residential 

protection officers, so I’m aware of the deployment guidelines etc, at that time 

when I was delivering training.  I was also a trained tactical advisor and a PIM 

manager, so I’m aware of these aspects of policing.  I used to deliver training in 

relation to risk assessment and managing restraints within the custody arena 

on the initial custody course within the MPS.  Additionally, I have worked in an 

area control room, in Scotland Yard on the 999 system.   

 

7. Within the Met, when I worked there we didn’t have area control rooms, we had 

individual control rooms within each borough.  So I was what we called a CAD 

Supervisor; I was a sergeant supervisor for the control room for many years 

before I moved over to officer safety.  That control room was run by a sergeant 

or a senior PC.  The years I was there as a sergeant I was a control room 

supervisor, so I would have taken the role of deploying staff, taking control of 

major incidents, etc., until such time as possibly another senior officer was 

brought in, but I would probably be the control room supervisor in that situation 

with a sergeant or an inspector on the ground running that side of things.  I’ve 

also worked at Scotland Yard as both a call receiver, as a sergeant call receiver 

and dispatcher.  Again, that’s about deploying resources, making decisions 

around who goes to what, looking at risks, assessing risks, etc., making 

decisions on whether specialist equipment or specialist resources are required.  

So, I haven’t done the inspector role within the control room set-up in Scotland, 

being the person making the decisions, but I have made those decisions in a 

smaller control room for a large area of London as the supervisor controller of 

that control room.   
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8. I’m asked specifically if I have made decisions about the deployment of armed 

response to incidents.  It’s a slightly different set-up within the MPS, because 

the armed units within the MPS are already deployed, they’re already out 

actively, they don’t have to have an authorisation to deploy, but I would be the 

one making the decision to request or assign armed units to particular calls.  

 

 Information considered 
9. I was instructed by the Crown Office and Procurator Fiscals Office to produce a 

report on the use of force by the police in the restraint of Sheku Bayoh 

(COPFS-00024).  This report is dated 13 April 2018.  In preparation providing 

this statement, I watched the Inquiry evidence of PC Craig Walker, retired PC 

Alan Paton, retired PC Nicole Short, PC Ashley Tomlinson and Inspector 

Steven Stewart.  I also reviewed the following material: the Combined Audio 

and Video Timeline (SBPI-00047), the Use of Force SOP (PS10939), the 

Probationer Training OST course manual (PS11538 (a)), the OST PowerPoint 

(PS17208) and the Critical Incident Management SOP (PS11003). 

  

 Management of the Incident: Command and Control 
 

10. I have been asked about the command and control of the incident including 

the role of the Area Control Room. In terms of the initial reports to the police, I 

understand there were six 999 or 101 calls from 5 people, with one individual 

making a second call.  The reports were generally of a well built or muscular 

man in the street carrying a knife.  I understand that one individual reported 

that the subject took a “flying kick” at his car.  I think with that information and 

intelligence available, the requirement for specially trained and equipped staff 

was a necessity, certainly, to consider.  From memory, it’s the divisional 

sergeant that requests the ARV and the Dog Unit.  I would’ve expected the 

control room to automatically have considered that and looked at the 

availability of them for this particular call.  There’s nothing on the Combined 
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Audio and Video Timeline (SBPI-00047) that I viewed that indicates that was 

considered prior to the request from the sergeant (call sign 411). 

 

11. My reasons for saying that specialist resources should be considered 

immediately by the control room is to straight away take the terrorist threat 

out of the equation; standard best practice.  You’re sending unarmed, 

unprotected officers to deal with a male in a public place; the subject is not 

contained - they’re not in a house - so they’re in a public place, they’ve got 

free range to move around, apparently armed with a large knife, has already 

displayed violence towards others, i.e. kicking the car and approaching 

people in cars with the knife.  So with all of that intelligence and all of those 

risk factors, there’s an excerpt from the control room where they’re 

instructing the officers to attend and make an on-scene assessment, which I 

totally understand.   

 

12. What I don’t hear are warnings from the control room to the officers to 

remind them of their officers’ safety, to remind them of approaching with 

caution because he’s armed with a knife.  It is literally, “Go to the scene and 

make an assessment.”  I appreciate we’re going back a lot of years now and 

a lot of things have changed within the service. I was surprised at that.  I 

would expect the control room staff or supervisor, purely on that information 

and that intelligence, to consider the requirement for shields, taser, firearms, 

Dog Units, something along those lines that would assist the unarmed 

officers to actually deal with this individual, should it become a situation that 

was exactly what was painted on the tin.  If it was considered by them prior 

to the request from sergeant with call sign 411 it wasn’t evident from the 

information that I initially reviewed or explicit on the Combined Audio and 

Video Timeline (SBPI-00047).   

 

13. In terms of the factors relevant to the assessment of risk, that is all of the 

things I’ve already mentioned.  The fact that there had already been an 
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approach to at least one member of the public.  Whilst I appreciate it was 

damage to a car, if that person had then decided to get out of the vehicle, they 

would’ve been in immediate risk from a knife attack.  I think the immediate 

danger to the public was high, if not higher initially before the officers arrived.  

Then obviously the shifting of focus from members of the public to the officers 

would have decreased slightly the risk to the members of the public because 

the focus of the subject was then upon the officers rather than, as it had been 

previously before the officers arriving, on members of the public passing in 

cars etc.   

 

14. I am asked about the access the ACR would have had to local information 

about the locus in Kirkcaldy.  Access to local information is a failing of central 

control rooms.  I came from the Metropolitan Police and when the service 

centralised, that was always one of the issues; that the control room staff were 

not always aware of local issues or local requirements; for example, dead 

spots on the radio, what the actual area might be like, what it was noted for 

etc.  So, unless there was somebody there who knew the area from previous 

calls, possibly came from the area, I wouldn’t have expected a member of 

staff to have that much of a knowledge of the actual area, other than what was 

available to them on the systems, i.e. street map, Google Earth etc., things 

like that which are the systems that they use to assist them in the deployment 

and allocation of resources.   

 

15. I am asked specifically if the officers in the ACR would have been aware of 

the proximity of the locus to a psychiatric hospital.  Possibly not.  I don’t know 

the systems at Bilston Glen in 2015, but certainly on other control room 

systems, when you put a location in, you normally get a dropdown list of other 

calls that might be relevant to this one.  So, it looks at the area and then if, 

let’s say it’s linked to a domestic situation nearby in the street, you would 

normally get a warning coming up or a link message would come up which 

says “May be duplicate to” or, “May be linked to.”  So, if there was a report 
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equipment that they’re in possession of.  Whereby, if we were looking at now, 

with what’s happened over recent years, it’s unlikely that those officers would 

be deployed or would be asked to deal with that in the initial term.  Or if they 

did, they’d be asked to stand off and observe, pending the arrival of specially 

trained officers who are equipped with Taser.  Back in 2015, yes, we were at a 

severe terrorist level, but we certainly hadn’t had some of the things that have 

happened over the last four or five years but we’re starting to become far 

more aware of the risks, shall we say, to the lone individuals, loose in the 

streets.  Sending a dog or an ARV to the incident may add additional risk to 

the subject.  However, it’s just another officer who will be dealing with that 

individual.  Obviously, the risk of an armed confrontation should he produce 

the knife, then there’s less lethal tactical options available to the firearms 

officers in the same way that there are lethal options.  But that risk to Mr 

Bayoh would increase irrespective of who turns up.  The risk of serious injury 

or death would rise substantially should an armed response vehicle turn up or 

possibly a dog, but certainly with an armed response vehicle.   

 

23. I’m asked how the assessment of the call as a Grade 1 call informs the 

resources which were allocated to the incident.  Certainly, it’s an immediate 

response call; you have to get somebody there.  I think the decision has to 

then be made as “Do I send local officers, unarmed officers; do I send 

unarmed officers with support of armed officers or specialist trained officers 

possibly with the Dog Unit?”  Then the call at some point-- to then deploying 

those additional resources to the call.   

 

24. The speed at which this developed obviously negates an awful lot of that 

decision-making because the decision, to some degree, was taken out of the 

inspector’s hands because it was dealt with very quickly on the ground.  The 

officers had obviously made the decision, whether they came across it by 

accident or, saw him and approached as they did, getting quite close.  The 

response officers having made that decision to approach the male and assess 
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the male, I think from there it developed so quickly.  There’s little or no 

additional information going back to the control room until such time as Nicole 

Short is assaulted.  So there’s not a lot of additional information going back to 

the control room to allow the inspector to make that decision as to whether or 

not he now deploys the ARVs.  It’s one of those judgment calls.   

 

25. I understand the nearest ARV was in Edinburgh and was 27 miles away.  

Inspector Stewart’s evidence suggests that that’s around a 25 minute journey.  

If I put myself in the control room supervisor’s position, knowing the travelling 

time, I may have made the decision to deploy and then cancel on route if not 

required rather than wait and deploy when they were required.  The downside 

of that approach is that, if you’ve got an ARV unit running to an incident in 

Kirkcaldy and then something else comes out which is an armed incident, 

you’re diverting them possibly in the completely opposite direction to get to 

another incident.  So it is that judgment call about managing resources for the 

control room supervisor.  However, at that time in the morning on a Sunday, is 

it going to be one of the only calls that possibly come out that would require 

ARV attendance?  This is my personal opinion.  I think I would’ve deployed 

the ARV from the outset, got them running, but it wouldn’t have made any 

difference to the situation as it developed because it developed so quickly; it 

was over within minutes.  So it wouldn’t have made a difference. 

 

26. In terms of categorising it as a firearms incident, I would’ve wanted 

confirmation that the informants had seen the knife which, from memory, at 

least two of them had said yes and actually described the knife he was 

holding.  I understand one of the witnesses described Mr Bayoh as carrying 

the knife and chasing the car.  With that information, yes, I would say it was 

an incident that ARVs would’ve been deployed to. 

 

27.  I’m asked whether I would have wanted a report back from the officers going 

to the scene before I made a decision to deploy?  Personally, I would’ve 
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deployed based on the information that they had.  Based on the criteria of the 

travelling time, and should the ARVs be required, getting them to the scene, 

the time delay of getting them there, and then having officers having to try and 

contain that incident without the support of ARVs.  So I would’ve rolled them 

straight away but I would’ve asked for an update, which the ACR Inspector 

did, i.e. an assessment and an update from the officers on their arrival of the 

intel and the information.  Obviously, he didn’t get that because of the fast-

moving development of the incident.   

 

28.  I’m asked whether a reasonable ACR officer would wait for the local officers to 

arrive and to report back before deploying an ARV specifically in the 

circumstances that Inspector Stewart speaks to knowing that the local officers 

had been dispatched and were due to arrive at the scene very quickly.  It’s 

certainly a consideration.  Would that couple of minutes make a lot of 

difference to the call out?  Probably not.  In these circumstances it certainly 

didn’t.  If the inspector was aware that they were virtually on scene.  My 

understanding of the evidence was that we hear him actually asking for the 

updates and assessments as the first van, the main transit van’s driving round 

the roundabout onto Hayfield Road.  It is literally, 10 or 15 seconds away from 

contacting Mr Bayoh.  It’s certainly a consideration and if he knew they were 

that close, would a minute, a couple of minutes make that much difference, 

probably not.  So, yes, it may well have been a viable option to do that.   

 

29.  I’m asked whether I would expect a reasonable ACR inspector to categorise 

that incident as a critical incident at that time.  Personally, no.  I don’t think it 

meets the criteria.  Once we realise we have an unresponsive subject who is 

having medical issues, I think it would have been declared there and then by 

me on the scene.  But at that point, “male armed with a knife” wouldn’t fit the 

normal criteria for a critical incident.   It would be a standard call that would be 

dealt with by officers.  The fact that an ARV may have been assigned to it 

wouldn’t automatically make it the criteria for a critical incident.  The definition 
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correct.  But, as I said, he did request that because at the end of the day the 

ARV wasn’t running, and he needs that information as soon as possible to 

make that tactical decision as to whether officers and members of the public 

are at risk and an ARV would be required as part of the resources to control 

that situation.  

 

31.  Knowing the distances and, having dealt with similar situations where you 

know that the backup was going to be some way away, I personally would 

have rolled the ARV straight away.  In this situation, it wouldn’t have made a 

difference.  But if the ARV was then ten minutes down the road when I got the 

information that it was an incident to which they were required, they are ten 

minutes closer to providing support for the unarmed staff.   As I said, it is a 

judgement call made by the member of staff, by the inspector at the time, 

based on the information and his understanding of what was going on at the 

time.  You’ve asked my opinion – that’s what I would have done in that 

situation.  My criteria for that would be the fact that they are 20/25 minutes 

away, and if it does become what we think it might be and officers need an 

ARV, they’re ten minutes closer up the motorway than they would be when I 

finally roll them. However, I’m sure there is a deployment criteria or a 

deployment protocol for the ARVs for the control room supervisor.  I haven’t 

see that.  So if that dictates that that’s not their standard practice, then it’s not 

their standard practice. 

  

32. I’m asked how long would a reasonable ACR inspector wait for feedback in 

circumstances like this?  I think I wouldn’t wait more than a couple of minutes 

after officers have reported they were on scene.  So once the officers have 

arrived, I would be expecting within a couple of minutes, if not a minute, some 

update coming back from the officers on the scene.  

 

33. I’m asked if response officers were already on route to the locus by the time a 

reasonable ACR inspector learned of the incident, how long would a 
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is all going through your head in the control room trying to work out what’s 

actually going on.   

 

36. These transmissions are certainly feedback to the ACR.  Whether it’s 

feedback to deploy the ARV, I wouldn’t say that’s a fine point, because you’ve 

had no confirmation that the person is in possession of the knife.  All he now 

knows is that some sort of altercation has happened between the officers and 

a subject.  So I don’t think it would be relevant to then say, “Right, run the 

ARV,” at that point.  I would want further information where it would certainly 

indicate to me that the incident is developing and developing quite quickly.  So 

it would certainly be more units and possibly passing that information to the 

ARVs or passing that information to the dog van.   

 

37. In terms of making a decision to roll the ARVs at that point, you’ve got to 

consider, they are still 25 minutes away.  At that point, obviously contact has 

been made and the situation has developed.  Is it now an ARV situation or is it 

something the officers have to deal with because of the quick development of 

the situation?  As the controller, I would be waiting for confirmation of whether 

this person was in possession of a knife and then, as I say, another 30 

seconds later, you’ve got the male detained.  So it wouldn’t have made that 

much difference.  At that point, the Inspector would either be chipping in and 

trying to ask for information or just monitoring, waiting for more information to 

come from the officers on scene. 

 

38. The feedback which says, “Male secure on the ground,” that’s the information 

you’re waiting for, “The person has been secured.”  At that point, you’re then 

looking at who’s injured, what are the injuries, have we recovered the knife?  

It’s a more investigative role from the ACR rather than, “Do you need more 

units?”  Because, at that point, you’re basically saying, “We’ve got them.  

We’ve got them under control.”  So, yes, I think at the point, as I said, that 
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would not be a stand down but certainly, “Do I actually need the ARVs?” – 

probably not at that point. 

 

39. In terms of further steps a reasonable ACR Inspector would take if he didn’t 

have the feedback needed, I would say if you can’t contact the officers on the 

ground who are actually on scene, you’ve then got to start thinking, “Why can’t 

they respond on the radios?”  So if nothing was coming back, are they now 

injured and unable to respond?  Are they engaged in communication, or 

engaged in the incident, so they’re not able in that way to respond?  I would 

want to know if there were other units close by who were attending, and then I 

would ask them to give me the update immediately.  But then you’d let it run a 

couple of minutes, two or three minutes more, I think.  If you can’t get back in 

contact with them, something then might be wrong.  Whether I would then 

make the decision to roll the ARV?  It is a hypothetical question and it’s a very 

difficult one to answer because it didn’t happen that way.  It went very quickly 

from zero to ten, and the inspector can only really respond on the intelligence 

and information that he’s got.  So until such time as he’s given more 

information, having made the initial decision to have the ARV standby, ready 

to go if necessary, he hasn’t really been given any further information up until 

the point when you realise, as the subject is secured, to change that 

assessment really.  So there’s not much he could have done until such time 

as that information came in or then there was a period of time where no 

information was coming in, nobody was able to give him an update, to make 

the decision based on the original set of information.  

 

40. I’m asked what directions would a reasonable ACR inspector have given to 

the officers that had already been dispatched to the scene, and at what point?  

I think an awareness or a reminder that it could be a knife incident, to consider 

their officer safety and to update as soon as possible, the fact that he had the 

ARV, which he did.  He said he has got the ARV on standby to deploy armed 

officers. 
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41. I’m asked what procedures and steps would you have expected a reasonable 

ACR inspector to have implemented at this point to manage the incident? I 

think they deployed the staff that were available locally, made the local APS, 

the supervisor, aware of the situation, considered the dog van, considered the 

ARV.  As I say, possibly the support unit would have been another option or 

another consideration if they were on duty and available.  Yes, pretty much 

everything there.  Everything that was done was done.  As I said, my only 

difference – it wouldn’t have changed the situation in any way – was I would 

have probably rolled the ARV on the basic information that I had, that there 

was three members of the public who had all said that this person was in 

possession of a knife.  So I think I would have rolled them.  Obviously, the 

officers could have got there and not found him.  It could have been, “He’s 

wandering around the streets and we can’t find him,” in which case, the ARV 

would have got to the area and would have been available should they have 

found him.   But they didn’t, they came straight across him in the street exactly 

where the people had said he was and the situation developed in the space of 

a minute/a minute and a half. 

 

42. I’m asked whether, in terms of safe response procedures, the response 

officers should have been directed not to approach or detain the subject 

because of the level of threat. This would be a difficult decision to make.  Best 

practice in relation to edged weapons is the mnemonic CUT, which the first 

part is “Create distance”.  So, unlike a firearm, a pointed weapon, a sharp 

implement or knife, a pair of scissors or something like that, has to be 

basically where you are.  It has to come into proximity of you to cause you 

damage or proximity to a member of the public.  The risk to the public was 

very high, and I think to indicate to officers not to approach or not to engage, 

but not to attend or stand back and meet at a rendezvous point (RVP) at a 

safe distance would have been the wrong decision to make based on the risk 

to the members of the public.  However, getting close to the individual, again, 
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is not always a good thing to do.  If you can keep that distance, it gives you 

that reactionary time to deal with anything that the subject is doing.  Mr Bayoh 

was closing down the gap on the officers but, again, the officers could have 

possibly stopped a little bit further back.  But I think to not engage and not 

attempt to communicate and find out what was happening would have been 

the wrong decision to make.  I think they did everything correctly, which was 

go to the scene, locate the individual and attempt to engage the individual.  

We run a drill called the “21-foot drill”, and it’s how quickly somebody can 

close down the gap between where they are and where you are and draw a 

weapon and use a weapon on you for you to then have that gap to respond 

and deal with it when it arrives.  A fit person can cover a lot of ground over a 

very short period of time.  So being six, eight, ten feet away from somebody 

doesn’t give you that much of a reactionary time should somebody pull a knife 

and lunge at you.   So the “Create distance” is try and keep that distance.   

 

43.      The second line of that is “Use cover”.  PC Walker, to some degree, I think, 

on his evidence relates to this without telling the reasons why he did it.  He 

hangs around the front of the van and has the front end of the van between 

him and Mr Bayoh.  We joke about it as sometimes you run around the car 

and you’re being chased around the car.  As long as that car is between you 

and the individual, they can’t hurt you with a knife.  Then, obviously, the third 

is the “Transmit” for help, and that was the bit that didn’t appear because it 

developed so quickly.   But what I would have expected is, “We’ve found him, 

we’ve got him.  He’s here,” and, again, that update for the control room.  So I 

think they did the right thing in terms of going to the incident.  I think to stand 

off and not engage put members of the public at a greater risk.  Obviously, our 

duty to the public is their protection, that’s what we’re there for.  Therefore, I 

think they did the right thing to engage.  Their methodology of engaging could 

have been better with hindsight – hindsight’s a lovely tool – but they kept their 

distance initially from him, he closed the distances down, they did try and use 

cover in some shape or form.  They developed different tactical options to try 
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expect that supervisor to take on that management role of the incident that is 

taking place.  If they then, at that point, either them or one of the other officers 

declares that as a critical incident or a major incident, then the situation 

changes because we then start looking at bringing in the bronze, silver, gold 

command structure and methodology around that particular format.  

 

45. I’m asked if the incident been declared a firearms incident, what difference, if 

any, would that have made to the outcome? If it had been declared a firearms 

incident, then sending unarmed officers to a declared firearms incident would 

not be standard practice.  It would possibly be a case of directing the officers to 

a rendezvous point (RVP).  It might be Gallagher’s car park or somewhere 

nearby where the staff could be placed, ready for deployment.  But you would 

not generally deploy unarmed, unprotected officers into a declared firearms 

incident. Inspector Stewart made a decision not to immediately deploy the ARV 

and asked specifically for an update from the officers arriving on scene as to 

whether they needed the ARV.  Irrespective of the fact that that was then 

ignored or not heard by PC Walker and PC Paton, or acted upon by PC 

Tomlinson or PC Short as the second officers on scene, I think the lack of time 

available basically negated any other action from the Inspector other than 

having made the decision not to deploy, he waited for an update.  That update 

didn’t come and when the update did come, the incident would appear to have 

been done and dusted and the person was in custody.  So that would, again, 

remove the fact of it then becoming or it needing to become a firearms incident.   

 

46. I’m aware that Inspector Stewart wasn’t at his post at the time that the grade 1 

call came in.  So he was then subsequently informed that a grade 1 call had 

come in.  Certainly within a control room setting normally you would have 

somebody taking over from you to relieve you for breaks, etc.  If not, then nine 

times out of ten you would have a delegation process in place.  So, if the 

inspector wasn’t there and there was a sergeant in there possibly as a 

dispatcher, it may well be the case that there was a system that when you took 
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a comfort break that you said to another member of staff “you’re in charge until 

I get back.”  There should be some form of formal delegation process in place 

for that.  In terms of whether the Inspector would have been required to have a 

handheld terminal on him during breaks, I’m not aware, going back to 2015, 

that there was anything available like that.  But even if there was, how much 

can you do on a handheld terminal?  You would need access to different 

systems, etc.  And going back to 2015, the computer world, certainly within the 

police area wasn’t particularly fantastic. 

 

47. I’m asked whether my views would alter depending on whether a firearms 

incident had been declared at an early stage, i.e. prior to the arrival of the 

officers at Hayfield Road, or if it had happened at a later stage, i.e., after their 

arrival. If it had been declared a firearms incident prior to their arrival, then 

they shouldn’t have gone, they shouldn’t have been sent to the scene.  If it 

was then declared once they arrived on the scene and they saw the knife and 

then declared it as a firearms incident, then that changes because they’re 

already on scene and it’s very difficult for them to then fully withdraw from the 

scene without putting members of the public in danger.  So, yes, the 

management and the response would have been slightly different if they were 

already on scene and then it was declared a firearms incident.  It’s very 

difficult for them to actually then withdraw at that point.   

 

48. I’m asked whether when Inspector Stewart became aware of the incident he 

could have cancelled the direction to the officers to attend the incident and to 

meet at a rendezvous point and await the arrival of an ARV.  If the inspector’s 

assessment had been such that the officers were at risk and it would— 

required a firearms response, then, yes, that would be reasonable.   I don’t 

think that was his assessment, therefore the deployment of officers directly to 

the scene to assess the situation was the correct course of action. 
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53. I’m asked how a reasonable officer’s risk assessment would inform the tactical 

options which were available to them.  The officer safety training they’d 

received should’ve kicked in and they should be thinking about the best 

practice around dealing with knife incidents, and looking at that creating 

distance, utilising cover and transmitting for relevant protection or trained 

officers and specialist equipment, should it be required.  So I would have 

expected that to start forming part of their tactical decision, so things like not 

jumping out the van and running towards the person; but possibly staying in 

the van, locking the doors, speaking to the person through the window.  If they 

come to the van, can you talk to them through the window?  Because then 

you’ve got the protection of the vehicle – things like that. But you won’t always 

be thinking around that, “I want to keep a safe distance.”  That “safe distance” 

is what we would normally say in officer safety, that arm and a half length.  I 

want to triple or quadruple that.  I want to be talking to this person from the 

other side of the street, if I can.  I want to be able to — if I need to — get 

something between me and them, if they approach me.  So whether that be a 

vehicle, bit of street furniture, a lamp post, something that I can use for 

protection.  So you’re looking at that side of it and dealing with the situation 

slightly differently than they would with a normal interaction or a normal stop 

with an individual, dealing with them far closer and probably all face-to-face or 

slightly off-centre.   

 

54. The National Decision Model (NDM) is part of that risk assessment process. It 

works as a dynamic model just the same as it does for a pre-planned model, 

and that’s the natural thought processes of the brain working around the 

system.  The NDM can appear to be a little bit wordy, but it is a basic solution 

of, “What do I know?  What am I considering?  What do I think?  What 

assessment am I making?  What options are open to me to deal with this 

situation?”, and considering all of these and then making a decision, but also 

then if it doesn’t work or you get out and they don’t do what you think they’re 

going to do, “What’s my next option?”  Always having that plan B or that 



  
 
 

Signature of witness… ………………………………...... 

 

second option available to you to continue that assessment process because 

it’s not something you just do once, jump out the van, deal with it.  You do it 

and then you make a decision, and then you might have to change that 

decision quite quickly and, on the hoof, because the first one hasn’t worked, 

or you haven’t had the response from that action that you think you were 

going to get?  

 

55. I’m asked whether staying in the police vehicle would be an appropriate tactical 

option.  I would say that knowing that other officers were en route that it is 

certainly a consideration.  Probably not knowing how long the other officers 

were going to be, again, would have to be considered that as part of that.  If 

you knew they were only a couple of minutes away, or if you knew they were 

ten minutes away or 20 minutes away, etc.  The options open to the officers at 

the time were numerous, everything from stay in the vehicle, get out and 

engage, engage at distance, engage close up.  It was all available to them.  

Other than laying those options out, it's very difficult to say which was the 

“correct option”.  The correct option is the one that they chose at the time based 

on the information that they had available to them.  Whether that turned out to 

be the best option is the matter for discussion.   

 

56. What is not evident from either the oral evidence is whether the officers talked 

about how they were going to deal with the situation if they found the subject.  

That would be standard practice.  I wouldn't have expected them to be driving 

there together, not saying anything to each other or discussing what they were 

about to go and deal with, so I'm sure there was some discussion and some 

mutual “This is what we're going to do. I'm going to get out, I'm going to talk to 

him,” etc., etc.  So, I think that as part of that assessment process that decision 

had probably already been made before they arrived or as they arrived on 

scene and realised that they had Mr Bayoh in front of them.  

  

 Risk Assessment: PCs Walker and Paton arrival at the locus 
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57. In light of the information known to PCs Walker and Paton, I’m asked what 

factors were relevant to the assessment of risk to Mr Bayoh, the attending 

officers and the public.  Certainly the fact that they can't see the knife shouldn't 

dissuade them from the level of risk that the person may still be in possession 

of it.  How it might alter the approach or the choice of tactical option is the fact 

that, in some circumstances, being slightly closer to somebody who may be in 

possession of a knife allows you the ability to prevent that knife from being 

accessed.  So sometimes the tactical option is actually better to be closer to the 

individual rather than further away. So this may have been something that 

they've considered within their approach, but during this time they're trying to 

maintain some distance with Mr Bayoh continually closing that gap down and 

walking towards them.  So the fact that the knife wasn't visible shouldn't deter 

them or shouldn't detract from the level of risk that the officers were still 

perceiving or still probably under at that point.  It may have just altered the fact 

of how they then dealt with him.  In terms of Mr Bayoh’s demeanour and 

behaviour, it's not unusual for people to ignore officers or ignore officers’ 

commands.  Obviously, that lack of response or that lack of compliance would 

then lift the level of officer response. Again, by somebody not doing what 

they're told, by their actions, by their actions and gestures, not specifically 

through words, but by their actions and gestures, are showing non-compliance 

to towards the officer.  Therefore, that lifts the level of risk and lifts the level of 

response that the officer may well then go to.   

 

58. Obviously, the use of verbal commands is a strong tactical option to use.  The 

approach on this occasion seems to be more one of command and control of 

the individual by using loud verbal commands, rather than an engaged 

communication style trying to build a connection with the individual.  So that, I 

think, again, was probably a predetermined approach that the officers had 

decided upon, that on identifying the individual they were going to try and 

control the scene, control the individual by using their dominance and their 

verbal commands as the first port of call in relation to tactical options.  So I 
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having a stress-related response to seeing what he believes to be one of his 

colleagues as being slashed.  I would have expected one of three options: he 

immediately engages Mr Bayoh to try and protect the officers from further 

injury; or that he goes to the aid of the injured officer; or he freezes and does 

nothing.  They would be the three standard responses from an officer in such 

a high-stress situation, and as it was, I believe Mr Bayoh took that tactical 

option away from him because he started to approach PC Tomlinson from 

where he had been and was walking towards him anyway. So it took that 

decision process away from him.  He now had to deal with Mr Bayoh.  

 

63. I’m asked how the risk assessment carried out by PCs Tomlinson and Short 

on arrival inform their tactical options.  In relation to PC Tomlinson, you've 

now got to think, if his honest-held belief is that another officer has just been 

slashed with a knife, whether he sees the knife or not, the level of force that 

he may be considering and the level of threat to himself and PC Short must 

be up there around a lethal level.  He must be thinking that he and one of his 

colleagues could die in this situation. Therefore, the risk assessment is as 

high as it goes, threat assessment is as high as it goes, and therefore the 

level of force that he may be now considering as appropriate and necessary 

to stop this individual from assaulting him or his colleagues is going to be very 

high.  

 

64. In relation to PC Short, I think the relevant factor to add to PC Short’s 

assessment is her admission – both within her statement and certainly within 

her evidence that she gave – of her, to some degree, fear of knife-related 

incidents and knife-related attacks.  She's a small officer.  That has to come 

into the equation.  Compared to Mr Bayoh, she's a lot smaller. She'd be a lot 

weaker in upper body strength.  Her ability to possibly go one-on-one with him 

would be greatly reduced as against PC Paton or PC Walker, who are both 

reasonably big men.  So that has to be considered in the fact of how she would 
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perceive that incident as against any other officer or other officer at the scene.  

So she may have deemed herself to be at a greater risk because of that. 

 

Initial Contact: PCs Walker and Paton  

65. I’m asked to categorise Mr Bayoh’s offender behaviour at the time of PC 

Walker and PC Paton’s arrival at the locus.  Mr Bayoh is displaying non-verbal 

resistance by his gestures, by the fact that he's not complying with the 

directions given by the officers. It would be classed, as per their training, Level 

2.  Or perhaps Level 2 stroking on Level 3 depending on where you are, but the 

fact that they are issuing commands, they’re giving instruction to the individual 

and the individual is failing to comply with those instructions.  When the officers 

encounter him at first, he's described as walking towards them with his palms 

open towards them.  So they can't see a knife, they can see his hands although 

he could have the knife on his person. At that point he's actually Level 1, he's 

just walking towards them. As soon as they issue a verbal command, and then 

he fails to comply with that verbal command, then that raises it to Level 2, 

bordering on a Level 3. It would cause the officers to think what are the reasons 

why this person is not complying?  Is it just because they don't want to or is it 

because they've done something wrong, they're in possession of something 

that they shouldn't have, therefore they don't want to engage with us and they 

don't want to allow the officers any tactical advantage to get close to them?  So, 

it's already starting to raise the risk level to the officers because of that non-

compliant behaviour.  

 

66. Potentially it would also raise questions of whether Mr Bayoh was under the 

influence of drugs, alcohol, or was having some kind of mental health episode 

especially with the officer mentioning in his statement that Mr Bayoh looked 

“crazy”.  Obviously, it's not a descriptive performance, but making that 

comment should automatically be making the officers consider, “Is this person 

in a rational state of mind to be able to understand what I'm asking them to do, 
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that there's a knife involved, I would always look for the officers to try and deal 

with Mr Bayoh at a distance. Therefore, using a tactical option of possibly 

drawing a baton or deciding to move in and physically restrain him, I think, 

would have been an incorrect course of action.  Continuing tactical 

communication or making a tactical choice to deal with him at a distance – i.e. 

possibly with an irritant spray, whilst maintaining that reactionary gap, that good 

distance from Mr Bayoh, was probably the best option at that point. Other 

tactical options open to the reasonable officer would include running away.  If 

they honestly thought that he was in possession of a knife, get back in the 

vehicle, lock the doors.  They haven't got much more really, other than what 

they might call a-- I think I raised it earlier, it’s what they call a floating 

containment, whereby you would put a surround of officers around the 

individual at a distance and you would try and mirror their movements whilst 

trying to communicate, whilst trying to engage with them.  Very difficult to do in 

an open space without a large number of officers and, again, it then puts more 

officers at risk of attack.  The more officers you deploy to the scene, the more 

risk of officers then being injured from a knife attack.  Updating the ACR, both 

for the benefit of the ACR and the officers on the way to the scene is certainly a 

tactical option that you would want to be doing.  However, certainly in this 

particular situation, there was very little time between initial contact and 

deployment of a tactical option, and then the officers obviously ending up in a 

physical altercation with Mr Bayoh.  If that standoff had happened, had lasted a 

bit longer, then yes, I would have expected one of the four officers to be giving 

some form of update, not just to the control room, but also to the attending 

supervisor who was coming as well, the Acting Police Sergeant.  

 

69. If any of the attending officers didn’t hear Inspector Stewart’s transmission to 

attend the scene and report back, they would have been aware of the need to 

report back if they were able to do so; it's a standard process. You're not 

always able to, and also, if you're concentrating and your focus is on the 

situation and on the subject, remembering to do a radio transmission can 
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71. I’m asked whether it is of any consequence that, at the point of that initial 

contact with Mr Bayoh, he had not been positively identified as the subject that 

the officers were looking for.  I agree that Mr Bayoh had not been positively 

identified.  I think the officers made the assumption that he was the individual 

concerned in that situation based on the description and the location.  So 

there’s a possibility it’s not him, but I think taking everything into consideration, 

they've got reasonable grounds to believe or suspect that that individual is the 

person who they're looking for and, given the risk level, if he is the individual, 

they have to use suitable control measures to be able to deal with Mr Bayoh in 

those circumstances.   

 

72. I’m asked about stop and search procedures and whether they would be 

appropriate for use in these circumstances.  If you suspect an individual is in 

possession of a knife, you're more likely to approach that individual and 

detain them and control them prior to search.  You’re not going to increase 

the risk to yourself by standing back and saying, “Excuse me, sir, we think 

you might have a knife,” and allow them the ability to draw that weapon and 

then possibly use it on you.  I've dealt with similar situations where you've got 

reasonable grounds to suspect an individual is in possession of a knife, you 

will go in, you will detain them and restrain them and then search them for the 

weapon that you believe that they're in possession of.   

 

73. I’m asked to categorise and comment on the responses by PCs Walker and 

Paton at Hayfield Road and, to what extent, if any, the responses differed 

from that of a reasonable officer.  The officers approach was quite 

authoritarian, but I can understand the reasoning behind that, wanting to try 

and control the individual – the verbal dominance approach of 

communication, we call that.  It's a methodology of trying to dominate the 

individual, get them to comply with your instructions to minimise the risk, or 

minimise the requirement to possibly use other force.  It works quite well in a 

lot of circumstances, but in certain circumstances it doesn't work and it 
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public.  So they may have decided that's what they wanted to do. However, if 

they had, either the control room or the supervisor could have directed that 

they search the area for the subject.    

  

Initial Contact: PCs Tomlinson and Short 
78. I’m asked to categorise Mr Bayoh’s offender behaviour at the time that PCs 

Tomlinson and Short  arrived at the locus.  I think at that point, PC Tomlinson 

was probably not aware of the fact that incapacitants had been deployed.  PC 

Tomlinson certainly was under the impression or believed that one of the 

officers had been attacked, so that would have been an assaultive resistance 

or serious or aggravated resistance.  We’re at the top level here: we’re at 5 or 

6.  I would say if he's honestly believed he'd been slashed with a knife, we're 

looking at Level 6.  Therefore, the officer’s response, based on his training, 

could well be a Level 5 deadly force response.   

 

79. Obviously, those officers aren't equipped with anything that should deliver 

deadly force.  They're not armed officers, so what we are then looking at where 

deadly force may be applied would be the application of force to target areas 

that would carry a much higher degree of risk of serious injury.  So that could 

be headshots, it could be strikes to the throat area or something like that, 

which wouldn't be normal target areas for officers trying to utilise their officer 

safety skills.  PC Tomlinson speaks to hitting Mr Bayoh in the head with his 

baton which is a Category 6 response.  He believes there has been a Category 

6 profile behaviour, so he's looking at this person has just seriously assaulted 

one of his colleagues, and there are aggravated resistances: the fact that Mr 

Bayoh punched PC Short to the head, and knocked her to the floor.  He does 

actually say in his evidence, that he thought he had killed her.  So there you've 

now got his belief that one officer has been killed by being punched and 

knocked to the floor, and another officer has been seriously injured by being 

slashed, believed with a knife, he now has that top level resistance from the 
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and is threatening to use it and are not responding to the verbal commands, 

this is all lifting the level of resistance, because they're now not responding to 

three forms of communication: the non-verbal cue, the verbal cue and the 

active threat of the piece of equipment.   

 

82. Therefore, that level of resistance now is climbing incrementally and, as I said, 

this is one of the problems about using these levels.  There are lots of 

crossovers with people's actions across these levels but, at that point, you've 

now got three distinct non-compliant elements to Mr Bayoh’s behaviour: 

closing the gap; refusing to comply with the verbal commands; not taking any 

notice of the non-verbal cue of the hand out saying “Stop, stay where you are,” 

or the threat of the CS and PAVA being drawn and pointed in his direction.  

There's four things that he's not taking any notice of.  So I think that overall 

level, it's quite difficult to say but, we're past passive resistance now.  We're not 

just not doing what we're being told, we're now actively approaching, actively 

encroaching on the officers, not listening to what they're being asked to do, not 

responding to the non-verbal cues.  So we are climbing that ladder quite 

quickly.   

 

83. In terms of PC Short’s response, in her evidence she speaks to hearing the 

warning regarding the PAVA/CS spray being given and then seeing the spray 

deployed.  She then heard PC Walker saying “It's not working”.  I would have 

expected her to then choose a different tactical option to what had already 

been deployed.  So for her, that's basically her baton, or be prepared to use 

her empty hand tactics to defend herself or try and restrain the individual.  So 

I would have expected her to draw her baton.  In terms of other tactical 

options available to her, she could have transmitted an update to the control 

room, which would have again instigated a review of the deployment required.  

It would also have informed other officers coming to the scene that it had 

been deployed.  So it helps them prevent becoming cross contaminated, but 

also would inform their choice of tactical option on their arrival.  Depending on 
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does however contain a paragraph that mentions this and the fact that this in 

itself does not make the action unlawful. 

 

91. I’m asked to categorise PC Tomlinson’s response to the assault, in terms of 

him striking Mr Bayoh on the head with a baton and to indicate whether his 

response differed from that of a reasonable officer in those circumstances.  

PC Tomlinson’s response was a reasonable one in these circumstances. I 

think you’ve got more justification for the use of a higher level of force than in 

hypothesis 1 because you’re getting more assaultive behaviour occurring - 

blows to the head; serious injury; possibility of death; being stamped on the 

floor; risk of serious injury; possibility of death; internal injuries, etc.  If those 

added stamps were to be delivered by Mr Bayoh, then the level of force used 

by officers to prevent that from continuing would be of a very high level and 

could be considered by the officer as the application of deadly force, whether 

it caused a death or not.  

 

 Restraint - taking Mr Bayoh to the ground 
 

92. I’m asked to categorise Mr Bayoh’s offender behaviour at the point of him 

being taken to the ground.  I would describe it as level 4/level 5, depending on 

just how serious it was in terms of blows to Nicole Short i.e. which hypothesis 

was correct. Level 5 is assaultive behaviour and sits above level 4 which is 

active resistance (no assault or attempt to assault). Level 5 is where the 

subject physically assaults or attacks the officer. Therefore both the punch 

and the stamp fit this definition. However the injury potential of the stamp 

could be deemed as higher and under the NDM would increase the risk even 

further.  As explained in relation to hypothesis 1 and 2, this would cause the 

reasonable officer to assess a high level of risk. A level 4/level 5 response 

would be appropriate.  In terms of options available, the option of taking Mr 

Bayoh to the ground and restraining him was an appropriate tactical option.  

At the end of the day, what you’re trying to prevent is further assault, so the 
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circumstances that they found themselves in, it would not make it an unlawful 

act.  So we must look at it under the guise of the law rather the guise of “this 

does not appear in the manual” or “this was not trained”, that the officer was 

not trained in how to do this.  So I think that that analogy must always be 

borne in mind when we look at somebody doing something outside of their 

police training, rather than “this is automatically incorrect or wrong; they 

shouldn’t have done it.” 

 

98. I’m asked about the method in which PC Walker took Mr Bayoh to the ground.  

As I understand it one description of is that he shoulder charged Mr Bayoh.  

The other description is that he brought him down in a bear hug.  I’m asked to 

comments on these methods of bringing Mr Bayoh to the ground.    They’re 

both actions that I could see an officer attempting to either shoulder charge 

and shove the person out of the way, or wrap their arms to prevent them from 

using their arms. At this point, the officers may still be considering that Mr 

Bayoh may be in possession of a knife.  So they may want to try and wrap his 

arms to take his arms away from him – or his ability to draw weapon – but 

probably my primary thought process would be to get him away from PC 

Short; and then my second one is, hopefully, to try and get him on the ground 

so that we can start that control process in a slightly easier and safer 

environment.  
 
Restraint: position of Sheku Bayoh; duration; number of officers involved; use 
(and position) of force and bodyweight applied to Sheku Bayoh: hypothesis 1 – 
prone restraint 
 

99. I’m asked about Mr Bayoh’s offender behaviour during the restraint 

specifically in relation to the hypothesis of Mr Bayoh being in the prone 

position. Again, he’s actively resisting the officers, so he’s a minimum of a 

level 4 at this point.  He’s trying to get off the floor; he’s trying to pull his limbs 

away and does pull his limbs away from the various officers during the 

restraint.  On this point about the difference in perception of body position, I 
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very rarely have dealt with one of these incidents or restrained an individual 

where they’ve stayed in one position throughout the whole of the attempted 

restraint.  Certainly, with the descriptions of the officers concerned of him 

bench pressing and pulling his arms around and wriggling around on the floor, 

I would suggest – and seriously consider – that he has probably been in a 

number of different positions whilst on the floor when the officers have 

attempted to restrain him.  Some of those may well have been on this front; 

some of them may well have been on his back; some of them would probably 

been on his side.  So he’s probably being seen by different individuals, at 

different times, in all of those positions.  Whether he stayed in that one 

position for the whole control period – I very much doubt that that’s been the 

case and that he has moved from position to position whilst the officers have 

attempted to control him.   

 

100. But yes, all of the descriptions of the different positions and the different 

actions of Mr Bayoh during the attempted restraint would certainly say level 4 

of active resistance – even, to some degree, there’s some comments in 

relation to him kicking out with his legs, or pulling his head back, which, if 

perceived by the officers, could be perceived as assaultive resistance 

whereby he’s trying to actively assault the officers who are attempting to 

restrain him; but I’d say a level 4 as active resistance.  Basically, he’s trying to 

prevent himself from being controlled and restrained on the floor.  

 

101. I’m asked what impact does that have in terms of the officer’s assessment of 

risk and their response to the situation.  Until such time as they have him 

under full control – and that means both arms and the legs and, to some 

degree, the head is under full control – and that person is then being placed 

either into some form of physical restraint, i.e., somebody is holding onto that 

particular limb, or they’ve been placed in mechanical restraints, i.e., they’ve 

got handcuffs on, they are still a major threat to the officers because they can 

break free at any time.  So that continued resistive behaviour from the subject 
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their inability to move their abdomen, and therefore their diaphragm being 

unable to rise and fall into the ribcage.  Once the person is in restraint and say 

placed in handcuffs, there is a push for officers to try and restrain the 

individual on their side to release that pressure on the rib cage, and release 

that pressure on the abdomen, which then allows the diaphragm to move 

more freely.   So there’s distinct difference between the control phase of such 

an action and the actual restraint phase.  The best way to describe it is a first 

aid recovery position – that’s what you’re trying to hold them in –officers are 

shown how to hold an individual, even if it takes three or four officers to hold 

that individual in that position.  However, that can only be done once it is safe 

and practicable to do that.  So the individual does have to have some form of 

restraint placed upon them before that position can be achieved and safely 

maintained.  

 

104. I’m asked about my comments on the length of the restraint and the number of 

officers involved in the restraint.  I understand the Inquiry has heard evidence 

that,  from the CCTV it appears that Mr Bayoh is on the ground at 7.21.13 and 

then there’s an activation from PC Tomlinson’s emergency button at 7.21.19.  I 

understand that PC Tomlinson gave evidence in the inquiry that Mr Bayoh was 

on the ground by that point.  Thereafter, at 7.21.38 PC Smith transmits: “Male 

secure on the ground.”  7.22.24, PC Walker transmits: “Male in cuffs.  Still 

struggling.”  I understand that the first officer to restrain Mr Bayoh was PC 

Walker.  He was quickly joined by PC Tomlinson, then PC Paton, then PC 

Smith, then PCs Gibson and McDonagh and, finally, PC Good.  The restraint is 

continuing until 7.25.17, in which PC Smith transmits: “This male now certainly 

appears to be unconscious, breathing, not responsive.  Get an ambulance for 

him.”  I understand the Inquiry heard evidence that by that point handcuffs and 

leg restraints had been applied.  He’s obviously still restrained at 7.29.30, when 

Sergeant Maxwell transmits: “This accused is now not breathing.  CPR is 

commencing.”   
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within my original report.  And it’s also very difficult to see the actual body 

position of Mr Bayoh on the floor.  What I would say is that the configuration of 

the other officers appear to be more upright other than the one that appears to 

be lying across his legs.  So they would appear, from those very fleeting 

images, appear to be more in the latter stages of the restraint, possibly when 

the handcuffs have been applied or when they’ve got some degree of control 

over Mr Bayoh.  They certainly don’t seem to be placing their full bodyweight, 

i.e., lying, across Mr Bayoh.  But that doesn’t mean that they weren’t then 

exerting downward pressure through their arms or through their hands in the 

grasps that they had on him.   

 

111. That said, downward pressure is one of the control measures in prone restraint.  

It’s to basically lock the person against the ground.  Obviously, if that pressure 

is applied over any area of the body, i.e., the back of the rib cage, the chest 

area or the abdomen, that can then interfere with the breathing mechanism.  So 

in training, officers are taught to try and avoid doing that.  That doesn’t mean it 

won’t happen during the initial control phase, but they’re told to limit any 

downward pressure to a minimum and try to avoid it if possible.  

 

112. I am asked to comment on evidence, which I understand came from a from a 

number of witnesses, that the restraint bore resemblance to a collapsed rugby 

scrum.  Certainly in the early stages of the control phase when they’re first 

getting to grips with and trying to control the subject, it can look very messy and 

very over the top.  It can look like it’s just a group of individuals all lying on the 

floor.  What’s normally happening during that phase is officers are trying to get 

hold of various limbs, i.e., getting hold of the arms, et cetera, and being able to 

pull the arms away from the body so that they can then manipulate them into 

positions where they can be handcuffed.  It’s quite common for somebody lying 

on the floor to have their arms underneath them.  So, again, officers may well 

be on top of that individual trying to lever out the arms from underneath the 

body.  From recollection from the officers saying that Mr Bayoh was doing that, 
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Scottish training as a warning, certainly not on what I’ve seen, but it is a well-

known factor that people who are under the influence of drink and drugs, 

possibly anti-psychotic medication, etc., and may be considered suffering or 

approaching elements of ABD that one of the tell-tale signs is this high body 

temperature and as a result of that people take clothes off, tearing shirts off, 

things like that.  So you could correlate that with the fact it was a very cold day, 

why is this person out with a t-shirt?  Obviously, it could be a totally innocent 

realisation as well.   

 

115. But in relation to the actual restraint, not really.  Even when you get to the first 

aid, if anything, it would help, because you can get down to the skin quite 

quickly, you can deliver CPR far easier on somebody who was wearing just a t-

shirt rather than a t-shirt, a jumper, a puffer jacket, etc.  So I don’t think it would 

have had any relevance to the officers during the actual restraint.  In terms of 

the suggestion that someone should have got a blanket to keep Mr Bayoh 

warm while they were waiting for the ambulance.  Possibly.  However, we’re 

starting to go away from officer safety and going into first aid application.  If you 

run through the initial doctors’ ABC, etc for first aid, they’ve done everything 

that they should be doing: they’ve done an assessment of his responsiveness, 

they’ve decided that the person’s unresponsive, they’ve checked for breathing, 

they’ve started CPR, they’ve attempted rescue breaths.  That’s the primary 

concern there is the person breathing.  We haven’t got down the ladder to start 

looking at things like shock, hypothermia and things like that.  We’re still dealing 

with the breathing and the CPR issue.  So, yes, a consideration, but way down 

the line from what they were actually dealing with, which was administering 

CPR.   

 

Miscellaneous 
 

116. I’m asked to describe de-escalation techniques and explain what they are 

designed to achieve and the possible outcomes when such techniques are 
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employed.  De-escalation is being able to assess the situation of the individual 

and apply different techniques to different situations rather than having a one 

size fits all approach to policing.  Different types of communication styles work 

differently with different people. Also just things like understanding human 

nature and human reactions to certain non-verbal cues so.  You sometimes find 

that female officers are actually far better at de-escalating situations and when 

you dig down into some of the reasons behind that, it’s normally they tend to be 

better communicators, they tend to be more empathetic individuals than a lot of 

male officers are.  Also it’s something as simple as if you are a really large built 

male you can, just by your mere presence, appear intimidating, especially if 

you’re standing there in uniform and you’ve got all this equipment on your belt 

or on your vest.  So it is understanding what can aggravate and what can 

escalate situations and trying to avoid those things to the best of your ability.  It 

is really about being flexible and being able to communicate well where you 

can, but also just thinking about things like your positioning, how you’re 

standing, having a relaxed stature and things like that but not taking it so far the 

other way that you then look as though you’re vulnerable and an easy target.  

It’s finding that middle ground where you can still maintain a presence and an 

authority but without looking or appearing aggressive or overbearing.   

 

117. De-escalation wasn’t trained in 2015 under that heading.  The OST training 

manual (PS11538 (a)). has a section on the communication module.  Now, 

throughout that communication module there are references to not so much de-

escalation tactics, but methodologies to use to prevent escalation in 

confrontation and conflict.  I wasn’t aware of any specific inputs within the 

Scottish forces at the time as it went over to Police Scotland.  There are lots of 

inputs around the country, around the UK that specialise on that, using various 

models and looking at various methodologies of building rapport and control 

through communication skills, looking at body language, looking at barriers to 

communication in relation to mental health, drugs and alcohol use and things 

like that.  The de-escalation related input is found in the tactical 
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that officers believe or have been informed that this can only happen when a 

person is in the prone position and can only happen when somebody lies 

across them or puts weight across the back of them.  This is not the case.  I’ve 

dealt with cases where the position that the person was in was handcuffed to 

the rear, sitting in the back of a van slumped forward and that position has 

interfered sufficiently with the breathing mechanism to cause asphyxiation due 

to the position.   

 

120. Also, I think the other thing that a lot of officers are unaware of now and have 

been for many years is understanding the requirement for oxygen against the 

ability to take that amount of oxygen in.  A lot of officers, when asked what 

positional asphyxia is, “It’s an inability to breathe.”  That’s not the case.  It’s an 

inability to be able to take sufficient oxygen in set against what the body 

requirements are.  So, if you require a specific amount of oxygen and if, 

because of the position it's in or the condition it’s in, you can only take in half of 

that, you will asphyxiate.  That is the definition of asphyxiation.  I think that 

understanding is lacking even now in a lot of officers.  But at the time, certainly 

looking at the resources that have been provided or were provided at the time 

for the officers, and also the initial training given at a training school for new 

officers, it’s somewhat misleading and somewhat lacking in detail in relation to 

the actual causes and warning signs and risk factors for positional asphyxia.   

 

121. Based on what they’ve got within their training, I think they would have been 

concentrating on things like him being held in a prone position, so basically on 

his front.  They would have made some effort, once safe to do so, to look to 

check whether the person was breathing.  But a lot of the other risk factors, for 

want of a better terminology, would not appear to them to be relevant.  So he 

hasn’t got a beer belly, he’s not particularly rotund or anything like that.  He was 

fighting against them, so therefore, a lot of the times you see within the training 

well, if they’re shouting at you or they’re moving about and they’re fighting 

against you, they’re breathing.  Well, yes, they are, but are they breathing 
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sufficiently for the oxygen requirement for their body to maintain 

consciousness?  So the warning signs they would have been trained in don’t 

appear to be present with Mr Bayoh.  For example, the officers would have 

been trained to notice if somebody goes from violent to passive very quickly or 

goes from passive to violent very quickly and understanding that that could be 

them fighting for breath or fighting to get out of the position that they’re being 

held in to be able to breathe.  So I think at the time that’s all they would have 

been looking for was the fact that they had him in a prone position and they 

would have been looking to get him out of that prone position as soon as they 

could once they had sufficiently secured him.   

 

122. I’m asked in what circumstances (if any) do I consider it would be appropriate 

for an officer to strike a suspect with a vehicle on arrival at a scene, with 

reference to the evidence of PC Walker on day 6 of the Inquiry.  I think if you 

are considering that as a tactical option, the level of the threat posed by the 

individual either to yourself, other officers or members of the public would have 

to be of a serious or aggravated resistance level, so a level 6 under their 

training, which could, under the right circumstances, may warrant a level 5 

deadly force or lethal force option.  So it would have to be something like the 

person was attacking a member of the public with the knife, possibly was self-

harming, was stabbing themselves with the knife, possibly, but it would have to 

be some form of serious threat either to another officer or member of the public 

or possibly Mr Bayoh himself.   

 

123.  I believe the facts stated in this witness statement are true. I understand that 

this statement may form part of the evidence before the Inquiry and be 

published on the Inquiry’s website. 
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